In the Supreme Court of Florida

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC10-1791

ROBERT N. STURDIVANT,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

ISSUE I
WHETHER A FIRST-DEGREE FELONY MURDER CONVICTION BASED ON AGGRAVATED CHILD ABUSE IS PROHIBITED BY THE MERGER DOCTRINE FOR A PROTOTYPICAL CHILD ABUSE MURDER? (Restated)
The standard of review8
The trial court's ruling8
Preservation16
Merits17
The merger doctrine18
Brooks and the merger doctrine21
District courts application of Brooks23
Legislative history of the amendment33
Merger doctrine versus double jeopardy38
Redefining the merger doctrine40
Limiting the use to subsection (b) 44
Harmless error46
Remedy48
CONCLUSION50
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE50
CERTIFICATE OF FONT COMPLIANCE 50

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>PAGE(S)</u>
Boler v. State, 678 So.2d 319 (Fla. 1996) 39
Bravo v. United States, 532 F.3d 1154 (11th Cir. 2008)26
Brecht v. Abrahamson, 507 U.S. 619, 113 S.Ct. 1710, 123 L.Ed.2d 353 (1993)28
Brooks v. State, 918 So.2d 181 (Fla. 2005)passim
Carachuri-Rosendo v. Holder, 570 F.3d 263 (5 th Cir. 2009)
Clark v. Crosby, 335 F.3d 1303 (11 th Cir. 2003)
Clemons v. Flagler Hospital, Inc., 385 So.2d 1134 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980)26
Cotton v. Commonwealth, 546 S.E.2d 241 (Va. App. Ct. 2001)
Cummings v. State, 341 A.2d 294 (Md. App. Ct. 1975)
Dorsey v. State, 942 So.2d 983 (Fla. 5 th DCA 2006)8,10,23-25,29
Faraga v. State, 514 So.2d 295 (Miss. 1987)20,37
Fitzpatrick v. State, 859 So.2d 486 (Fla. 2003)23,47
Griffin v. United States, 502 U.S. 46, 112 S.Ct. 466, 116 L.Ed.2d 371 (1992)27,28,47
Hedgpeth v. Pulido, - U.S, 129 S.Ct. 530, 172 L.Ed.2d 388 (2008)27,28,46,47
Jones v. State, 998 So.2d 573 (Fla. 2008)16
Jordan v. State, 694 So.2d 708 (Fla. 1997)39

Kasischke v. State, 991 So.2d 803 (Fla. 2008)34
Koile v. State, 934 So.2d 1226 (Fla. 2006)34
Larimore v. State, 2 So.3d 101 (Fla. 2008)8
Lewis v. State, 34 So.3d 183 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010)18,25,26,28,29,30,32,33
Lim v. State, - So.3d -, 2010 WL 4628986 (Fla. $1^{\rm st}$ DCA November 17, 2010) 32-33
MacDonald, Sommer & Frates v. County of Yolo, 477 U.S. 340, 106 S.Ct. 2561, 91 L.Ed.2d 285 (1986)26
Mackerley v. State, 777 So.2d 969 (Fla. 2001)47
Mapps v. State, 520 So. 2d 92 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988)22
Massachusetts v. United States, 333 U.S. 611, 68 S.Ct. 747, 92 L.Ed. 968 (1948)26
Mills v. State, 476 So.2d 172 (Fla. 1985)8,9,12,21-23,39,40
Parsons v. Fed. Realty Corp., 105 Fla. 105, 143 So. 912 (1932)26
Paterson v. Brafman, 530 So.2d 499 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1988)26
Reed v. State, 837 So.2d 366 (Fla. 2002)12
Rhode v. Olk-Long, 84 F.3d 284 (8th Cir. 1996)19
Richardson v. State, 823 S.W.2d 710 (Tex. App. 1992)18
Robles v. State, 188 So.2d 789 (Fla. 1966)19,20
Rosa v. State, - So.3d -, 2010 WL 2430985, 35 Fla. L. Weekly D1361 (Fla. 2d DCA June 18, 2010)31-32

Shackleford v. Hubbard, 234 F.3d 1072 (9th Cir. 2000)27,28
Skilling v. United States, - U.S, 130 S.Ct. 2896, - L.Ed.2d - (2010)46
State v. Enmund, 476 So.2d 165 (Fla. 1985)39
State v. Godsey, 60 S.W.3d 759 (Tenn. 2001)
State v. Lopez, 847 P.2d 1078 (Ariz. 1992)19,20
Stevens v. State, 806 So.2d 1031 (Miss. 2001)20
Sturdivant v. State, - So.3d -, 2010 WL 3464410, 35 Fla. L. Weekly D1993 (Fla. 1 st DCA September 7, 2010)
Valentine v. State, 688 So.2d 313 (Fla. 1996)47
Woods v. Interstate Realty Co., 337 U.S. 535, 69 S.Ct. 1235, 93 L.Ed. 1524 (1949)26
Yates v. United States, 354 U.S. 298, 77 S.Ct. 1064, 1 L.Ed.2d 1356 (1957)
FLORIDA STATUTES
§ 782.04(1)(a)2, Fla. Stat. (2007)17
§ 827.03(2), Fla. Stat. (2007)5,17,45,46
§ 924.051(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (2006)16
ch. 84-16, § 1, Laws of Florida
OTHER STATE STATUTES
§ 97-3-19(2)(c), Miss. Statute347

OTHER AUTHORITIES

HB 135 Bill Analysis of Committee on Criminal Justice dated December 27, 198334
Philip J. Padovano, Florida Appellate Practice (2007 ed.)16
Douglas Van Zanten, Felony Murder, the Merger Limitation, and Legislative Intent in State v. Heemstra: Deciphering the Proper Role of the Iowa Supreme Court in Interpreting Iowa's Felony-Murder Statute, 93 IOWA L. REV. 1565, 1574 (2008)

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellee, ROBERT N. STURDIVANT, the defendant in the trial court, will be referred to as appellant or by his proper name. Appellant, the State of Florida, will be referred to as the State. Pursuant to Rule 9.210(b), Fla. R. App. P. (1997), this brief will refer to a volume according to its respective designation within the Index to the Record on Appeal. A citation to a volume will be followed by any appropriate page number within the volume. All double underlined emphasis is supplied.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is a direct appeal from a criminal conviction for the murder of a two-year-old child by the mother's live-in boyfriend. The First District reversed the first-degree felony murder conviction based on this Court's decision in *Brooks v. State*, 918 So.2d 181 (Fla. 2005). The First District held that the merger doctrine precluded the use of aggravated child abuse as the underlying felony for the felony murder charge where only a single act of abuse led to the child's death but certified the following question:

DOES BROOKS v. STATE, 918 So.2d 181 (Fla. 2005), PRECLUDE A CONVICTION FOR FELONY MURDER BASED ON THE PREDICATE OFFENSE OF AGGRAVATED CHILD ABUSE WHEN THE ABUSE CONSISTS OF A SINGLE ACT, NOTWITHSTANDING THE LANGUAGE OF SECTION 782.04(1)(a) 2.h., FLORIDA STATUTES (2007)?

Sturdivant v. State, - So.3d -, 2010 WL 3464410, 35 Fla. L. Weekly D1993 (Fla. 1^{st} DCA September 7, 2010).

A grand jury indicted Robert Nathan Sturdivant on two counts: I) first degree felony murder "while engaged in the perpetration of, or in the attempt to perpetrate aggravated child abuse, kill and murder Isaiah Howard, a human being, by slapping Isaiah Howard into a wall causing him to die in violation of section 782.04(1)(a), Florida Statutes, and II) aggravated child abuse "by willfully torturing and/or maliciously punishing" by slapping "Isaiah Howard into a wall which caused him to die, in violation of section 827.03(2), Florida Statutes," (R. I 11 - indictment).

The prosecutor, concerned about the *Brooks* merger issue, also filed an information charging second-degree murder based on the same allegations as in the indictment. (R. I 39 - information). The

information charged that on November 9, 2007, Robert Nathan Sturdivant "did unlawfully kill Isaiah Howard, a human being, by slapping Isaiah Howard into a wall." (R. I 39 - information). The prosecutor also filed a motion to consolidate the first-degree charge with the second-degree murder charges relying on 3.151(c). (R. I 37-38 - motion to consolidate). At the motion hearing held on October 24, 2008, the prosecutor explain that she filed a motion to consolidate "out of an abundance of caution" based on Brooks. (T. Vol. II 153). The prosecutor noted that Brooks was a Florida Supreme Court case "that stands for the proposition that if one single act is the basis for the felony murder, then . . . it's not felony murder." She filed the second-degree murder charge in the alternative. The prosecutor noted that defense counsel would argue in a judgment of acquittal that the case is analogous to Brooks because "we only have one slap." (T. Vol. II 155).

Defense counsel explained that his argument was based on the old doctrine of merger under which you could not be convicted on both the underlying felony and felony murder because they merged. (T. Vol. II 155). Defense counsel noted that obviously just about every murder is also an aggravated battery and that the only difference between aggravated battery and aggravated child abuse is the age of the victim. (T. Vol. II 156). Defense counsel noted that the Florida Supreme Court in Brooks adopted Mills, and determined that "you have to have more than one injury for it to constitute child abuse." (T. Vol. II 156). "There has to be more than one blow, stab, shot whatever." (T. Vol. II 156). Defense counsel stated that he would

be making a motion for judgment of acquittal based on the merger doctrine. (T. Vol. II 156). The trial court expressed concern about jury confusion. (T. Vol. II 157). The trial court noted that he could not sentence the defendant on both first-degree and second-degree murder. (T. Vol. II 158). The prosecutor and defense counsel agreed with the trial court's observation. (T. Vol. II 158). The trial court granted the motion to consolidate. (T. Vol. II 158).

Defense counsel filed a written motion for judgment of acquittal, which he renewed orally at the close of the State's case. (T. Vol. VI 248-277). After extensive discussion regarding the merger issue, the trial court denied the motion. (T. Vol. VI 248-277; 274).

The jury convicted Sturdivant of first-degree felony murder; second-degree murder; and aggravated child abuse as charged. (R. Vol. I 72-73; T. Vol. VI 357-358). The trial court sentenced the defendant to life without parole on the first-degree murder count and to 30 years' imprisonment on the aggravated child abuse count. (R. 83-89 - judgment & sentence). The judgment noted that the defendant was not sentenced on the second-degree count. (R. 89).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Sturdivant asserts that the merger doctrine prohibits aggravated child abuse from being the underlying felony for first-degree felony This Court should redefine the merger doctrine away from murder. single versus multiple acts to draw the line between prototypical child abuse murders and those that are not prototypical based on the legislative history of the amendment to the felony murder statute. Use of aggravated child abuse as the underlying felony for felony murder should be limited to prototypical child abuse murders which are those murders where a care-giver punishes a child to death. relationship, the motive and the type of harm should be the dividing line for the merger doctrine, not single or multiple acts. stranger shoots or stabs a child, that is not a prototypical child abuse murder and should not be charged as aggravated child abuse or felony murder. Limiting the scope of aggravated child abuse serving as the underlying felony for first-degree felony murder in this manner comports with the legislative intent, as derived from the legislative history, which is the basis for the merger doctrine. The use of aggravated child abuse as the underlying felony should also be limited § 827.03(2)(b) which requires that the defendant willfully tortures, maliciously punishes, or willfully and unlawfully cages a child. should exclude § 827.03(2)(a), which only requires aggravated battery on a child and \S 827.03(2)(c).

This was a prototypical child abuse murder. The live-in boyfriend, who was babysitting the child, slapped the child for being on the table and stepping on his marijuana. Thus, aggravated child

abuse may properly serve as the underlying felony for a first-degree felony murder conviction in this case.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER A FIRST-DEGREE FELONY MURDER CONVICTION BASED ON AGGRAVATED CHILD ABUSE IS PROHIBITED BY THE MERGER DOCTRINE FOR A PROTOTYPICAL CHILD ABUSE MURDER? (Restated)

Sturdivant asserts that the merger doctrine prohibits aggravated child abuse from being the underlying felony for felony murder. Court should redefine the merger doctrine away from single versus multiple acts to draw the line between prototypical child abuse murders and those that are not prototypical based on the legislative history of the amendment to the felony murder statute. aggravated child abuse as the underlying felony for felony murder should be limited to prototypical child abuse murders which are those murders where a care-giver punishes a child to death. relationship, the motive and the type of harm should be the dividing line for the merger doctrine, not single or multiple acts. stranger shoots a child, that is not a prototypical child abuse murder and should not be charged as aggravated child abuse or felony murder. Limiting the scope of aggravated child abuse serving as the underlying felony for first-degree felony murder in this manner comports with the legislative intent, as derived from the legislative history, which is the basis for the merger doctrine. This was a prototypical child abuse murder. The live-in boyfriend, who was babysitting the child, slapped the child for stepping on his marijuana. aggravated child abuse may properly serve as the underlying felony for a first-degree felony murder conviction in this case.

The standard of review

Whether the merger doctrine applies to the first-degree felony murder statute is a question of statutory interpretation which is purely a legal question reviewed de novo. Larimore v. State, 2 So.3d 101, 106 (Fla. 2008) (noting that judicial interpretation of a statute is a purely legal matter and therefore subject to de novo review).

The trial court's ruling

After the State rested, defense counsel, Assistant Public Defender Walter Smith, presented to the court a written motion for judgment of acquittal. (T. Vol. VI 248). The written motion for judgment of acquittal argued that the aggravated battery on the child merged "with the homicide to create one offense" relying on Mills v. State, 476 So.2d 172, 177 (Fla. 1985), and Brooks v. State, 918 So.2d 181 (Fla. 2005). (R Vol. I 67-69). The written motion for judgment of acquittal stated that to be convicted of first-degree felony murder based on aggravated child abuse, the evidence had to establish "multiple acts at the hands of the defendant" citing Dorsey v. State, 942 So.2d 983 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006). (R Vol. I 68). The written motion for judgment of acquittal concluded that "the greatest offense for which the defendant could be convicted is second-degree murder. (R Vol. I 68).

Defense counsel argued to the trial court the "old common law notion that the underlying felony merged with the homicide and created one offense." (T. Vol. VI 248). Defense counsel asserted that while the merger doctrine had been statutorily denigrated over the years, it was still alive and well with respect to the crime of aggravated

battery. (T. Vol. VI 249). Defense counsel, citing Mills v. State, 476 So.2d 172 (Fla. 1985), stated that you cannot premise a first-degree felony murder on an aggravated battery. (T. Vol. VI 249). Defense counsel, relying on Brooks v. State, 918 So.2d 181 (Fla. 2005), stated there is no difference between aggravated battery and aggravated child abuse "save the age of the victim." (T. Vol. VI 249). Defense counsel stated that in Brooks, in the case of a child, when there is only one injury, "one insult" committed upon the child that offense still merges. (T. Vol. VI 249). Defense counsel maintained that even if there was more than one injury, it would still merge and "you would eliminate the aggravated child abuse and you would just be looking at murder - first, second and manslaughter." Defense counsel noted that the doctor pretty much testified that the one blow to the back of the head could have killed the child, which was consistent with Mr. Sturdivant's version. (T. Vol. VI 250). Defense counsel stated that a single blow causing perhaps the fatal injury. (T. Vol. VI 250). Defense counsel argued that the case "firmly falls within the pronouncements of the Brooks case" meaning it was either premeditated, or done with ill will, hatred, spite or evil intent or it was manslaughter. (T. Vol. VI 250).

The trial court inquired whether *Brooks* involved both premeditated and felony first-degree murder theories. (T. Vol. VI 250-251).

Defense counsel stated, because felony murder went away, they were left with second-degree murder and manslaughter. (T. Vol. VI 251).

Defense counsel stated that you cannot have felony murder if you do not have a felony. (T. Vol. VI 252). Defense counsel stated that they

were one in the same and it is one act that caused the death. (T. Vol. VI 252). Defense counsel stated that in Florida, we still adhere to the old common law merger rule and the one acts becomes the single homicidal act. (T. Vol. VI 252). Defense counsel stated that "Brooks controls" because they were "dealing with a single injury that leads to the death of a child." (T. Vol. VI 252).

The prosecutor responded that the key words in *Brooks* were "one single act." (T. Vol. VI 253). The prosecutor felt that there was more than one single act because of the burn to the foot and the ongoing continuing abuse of the child. (T. Vol. VI 253). The prosecutor noted that the defendant refused to seek medical care for the child right away which could have saved the child's life which was "ongoing torture." (T. Vol. VI 253). The prosecutor noted that torture could include acts of omission as well as commission. (T. Vol. VI 253). The prosecutor noted that the testimony from Dr. Snider was that the child felt pain for 15 to 20 minutes after the incident. (T. Vol. VI 254).

The trial court asked defense counsel to distinguish *Dorsey v. State*, 942 So.2d 983 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006), which involved areas of hemorrhage in the brain and retinas. (T. Vol. VI 254). The trial court noted that the Fifth District relied on the injury of a torn frenulum which was not causally related to the child's death in that case but was evidence that "the child had been roughly handled for more than a single moment in time." (T. Vol. VI 255). Defense counsel distinguished *Dorsey* by being an ongoing event of shaking whereas; here, it was undisputed that there was a single act. (T. Vol. VI 255). Defense counsel stated that the case was "squarely on point with

Brooks." (T. Vol. VI 256). Defense counsel noted that the indictment charged a single act of slapping Isaiah Howard into a wall and that there was no allegations of lack of medical care. (T. Vol. VI 256). Defense counsel also noted that the information charging second-degree murder also only alleged the single act of slapping into the wall. (T. Vol. VI 257).

The trial court agreed that the State charged only one act of child abuse. (T. Vol. VI 257-258). The trial court asked the prosecutor to distinguish *Brooks*. (T. Vol. VI 258-259). The prosecutor reiterated that torture was charged and includes acts of omission. (T. Vol. VI 259). The trial court then observed that it sounded like the motion for judgment of acquittal should be granted. (T. Vol. VI 260). The trial court then granted the motion as to the felony murder count. (T. Vol. VI 260).

Defense counsel then asked about the child abuse count. (T. Vol. VI 260). Defense counsel stated that if a single act cannot be felony murder, a single act cannot be aggravated child abuse either. (T. Vol. VI 260). The prosecutor objected but noted that there was no caselaw on point. (T. Vol. VI 260). The prosecutor noted regardless of the merger doctrine the defendant committed aggravated child abuse. (T. Vol. VI 261). The trial court inquired whether the aggravated child abuse charge survived in *Brooks*. (T. Vol. VI 261). Defense counsel stated in this case it is not aggravated child abuse it is homicide. (T. Vol. VI 261-262). It all merges into the homicide according to

There was no separate count of aggravated child abuse in *Brooks*.

defense counsel. (T. Vol. VI 262). The trial court noted that *Mills* barred a conviction for aggravated battery where a single act of aggravated battery also caused the homicide. (T. Vol. VI 262).

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