# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,	:	
Petitioner,	:	
v.	:	CASE NO. <b>SC10-1791</b>
ROBERT N. STURDIVANT,	:	
Respondent.	:	
	/	

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON MERIT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

# PAULA S. SAUNDERS

ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLA. BAR NO. 0308846 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE 301 S. MONROE ST., SUITE 401 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 606-8514 Paula.Saunders@flpd2.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#

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

<u>Sturdivant v. State</u>, \_\_\_\_\_ So.3d \_\_\_\_, 35 Fla.L.Weekkly D1993 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA Sept. 7, 2010). Hence, the District Court certified that following question to this Court as one of great public importance:

DOES <u>BROOKS v. STATE</u>, 918 So.2d 181 (Fla. 2005), PRECLUDE A CONVICTION FOR FELONY MURDER BASED ON THE PREDICATE OFFENSE OF AGGRAVATED CHILD ABUSE WHEN THE ABUSE CONSISTS OF A SINGLE ACT, NOTWITHSTANDING THE LANGUAGE OF SECTION 782.04(1)(a),2.h., FLORIDA STATUTES (2007)?

# III SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The certified question asks whether <u>Brooks v. State</u> prohibits a conviction of felony murder based on aggravated child abuse consisting of a single violent act. The question should be answered in the affirmative.

The mere inclusion of aggravated child abuse as an underlying felony in Section 782.04(1)(a)2, Florida Statutes, did not abrogate the merger doctrine under the common law. The merger doctrine limits aggravating circumstances used to justify a death sentence, even though such aggravating factors are specifically enumerated in section 921.141(5), Florida Statutes. The decision in <u>Brooks</u> encompasses both the aggravating factor of murder in the course of a felony and felony murder based on a single lethal act. In amending the felony murder statute to include aggravated child abuse, the legislature did not explicitly abrogate the merger rule recognized in <u>Brooks</u>. The merger rule in <u>Brooks</u> is logical and a bright-line rule; it does not apply to all types of aggravated child abuse, only those consisting of a single violent act resulting in death.

This Court should approve the ruling of the district court and affirm that a single act of assaultive conduct merges into the resulting homicide, thus precluding a felony murder conviction.

The district court vacated respondent's convictions for felony murder and aggravated child abuse and remanded with instructions that the trial court adjudicate him guilty of second degree murder and sentence him for that offense. However, respondent is entitled to a new trial on second degree murder because the trial court gave an erroneous instruction on manslaughter by act. The instruction given included the element of intent to kill. This was the same instruction that this Court condemned in <u>State v. Montgomery</u>, <u>infra</u>. But for the erroneous instruction, the jury could have found respondent guilty of manslaughter, a lesser offense of second degree murder. Respondent is, therefore, entitled to a new trial.

#### **IV ARGUMENT**

#### ISSUE I:

ADDITION OF AGGRAVATED CHILD ABUSE TO THE OFFENSES UNDERLYING FIRST-DEGREE FELONY MURDER DID NOT ABROGATE THE COMMON-LAW MERGER OF A SINGLE ACT OF ASSAULTIVE CONDUCT INTO THE RESULTING HOMICIDE, CONSISTENT WITH <u>BROOKS V.</u> STATE, 918 SO. 2D 181 (FLA. 2005).

<u>Standard of review</u>: This issue requires solely legal determinations, including statutory construction. Review is de novo. See Clines v. State, 912 So. 2d 550, 555 (Fla.2005).

<u>Discussion</u>: The certified question asks, in substance, whether <u>Brooks v. State</u>, 918 So. 2d 181 (Fla. 2005), prohibits a conviction of felony murder based on aggravated child abuse consisting of a single violent act. The question should be answered in the affirmative. As reflected in <u>Brooks</u>, the mere inclusion of aggravated child abuse as an underlying felony for first-degree felony murder did not abrogate the merger doctrine under the common law, whereby a single act of assaultive conduct merges into the resulting homicide, precluding a felony murder conviction.

Sturdivant was charged in a two count indictment with first degree murder and aggravated child abuse. In Count I, the state alleged that Sturdivant killed Isaiah Howard "while engaged in the perpetration of, or in the attempt to perpetrate Aggravated Child Abuse, . . ., by slapping Isaiah Howard into a wall causing him to die." (RI, 11). Count II alleged aggravated child abuse

by willfully torturing and/or maliciously punishing Isaiah Howard, or by knowingly or willfully committing child abuse upon Isaiah Howard and in doing so caused great bodily harm, permanent disability or permanent disfigurement, to-wit: Robert Nathan Sturdivant did slap Isaiah Howard into a wall which caused him to die, . . .

(RII, 11). The indictment and evidence at trial predicated both counts on the single act of slapping the child into a wall.

In the pages that follow, respondent will explore the common law of merger in criminal cases, discuss the ongoing vitality of merger in Florida's capital sentencing scheme, and explain why Florida's felony murder statute left the merger rule intact as it applies to a single act of battery resulting in a homicide. Respondent will also address the decision in <u>Brooks</u> and the First District's opinions in this case and <u>Lewis v. State</u>, 34 So. 3d 183 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2010), and respond to the State's argument that only assaultive child abuse by strangers, as opposed to caregivers, merges into felony murder.

## A. Merger and Assaultive Felony Murder

Under the common law, some crimes merged into one another, precluding multiple convictions. Applied to felony murder, merger bars reliance on a felony "which is an integral part of the homicide," and which the evidence shows to be an offense "included <u>in fact</u> within the homicide," to make the crime felony murder. People v. Ireland, 450 P.3d 580, 590 (Cal. 1969). In State v. <u>Jones</u>, 896 P.2d 1077 (Kan. 1995), the court disallowed use of aggravated battery to form the basis for a charge of first-degree murder. Some states apply the merger doctrine to crimes inherent in the murder, without regard to the single act theory. <u>See People v. Morgan</u>, 758 N.E.2d 813 (Ill. 2001)(predicate felony underlying a charge of felony murder must have an independent felonious purpose); <u>State v. Moore</u>, 213 P.3d 150 (Ariz. 2009)(assault may not serve as a predicate for felony murder). In <u>State v. Godsey</u>, 60 S.W.3d 759, 774-778 (Tenn. 2001), the Tennessee Supreme Court noted:

Conceived in the nineteenth century, the merger doctrine was developed . . . as a shorthand explanation for the conclusion that the felony-murder rule should not be applied in circumstances where the only underlying (or 'predicate') felony committed by the defendant was *assault*. The name of the doctrine derived from the characterization of the assault as an offense that 'merged' with the resulting homicide.

[Emphasis in original]. Recently, the California Supreme Court reaffirmed that assaultive felonies merge into second-degree felony murder, which applies to unemerated felonies and is akin to thirddegree felony murder in Florida. <u>See People v. Sarun Chun</u>, 203 P.3d 425, 443 (Cal. 2009). The seminal decision on merger and felony murder is <u>People v. Moran</u>, 246 N.Y. 100 (1927). There the New York Court of Appeals ruled felony murder inapplicable unless the supporting felony is independent from the homicide. The court explained: Homicide is murder in the first degree when perpetrated with a deliberate and premeditated design to kill, or, without such design, while engaged in the commission of a felony. To make the quality of the intent indifferent, it is not enough to show that the homicide was felonious, or that there was a felonious assault which culminated in homicide. Such a holding would mean that every homicide, not justifiable or excusable, would occur in the commission of a felony, with the result that kill and deliberation intent to and premeditation would never be essential. The felony that eliminates the quality of the intent must be one that is independent of the homicide and of the assault merged therein, as, e. g., robbery or larceny or burglary or rape.

246 N.Y. at 102 (emphasis supplied, internal case references omitted).

In 1966, the Florida Supreme Court declined to apply the merger rule to a felony murder statute that omitted from the list of supporting felonies "assault in any of its forms." <u>Robles v.</u> <u>State</u>, 188 So. 2d 789, 792 (Fla. 1966). The court in <u>Robles</u> upheld, against a merger claim, a conviction of felony murder based on burglary.

Legislation enacted in 1984 added aggravated child abuse to the list of felonies enumerated in section 782.04(1)(a)2, Florida Statutes. Ch. 84-16, § 1, Laws of Fla. Then, as now, aggravated child abuse could occur through aggravated battery, malicious punishment, willful torture, or unlawfully caging a child. § 827.03(2), Fla. Stat. (2010). Under a 1996 revision, knowing and willful abuse of a child which results in great bodily harm also constitutes aggravated child abuse. Ch. 96-322, § 8, Laws of Fla. These alternatives encompass both assaultive and non-assaultive behavior. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Nicholson v. State</u>, 600 So. 2d 1101, 1104 (1992) (holding that "willful torture" under section 837.03 "includes willful acts of omission and neglect that case unnecessary or unjustifiable pain and suffering to a child"); <u>Blow</u> <u>v. State</u>, 993 So. 2d 540, 541 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007) (limiting "unlawful caging" provision to confinement of child in wire or bar boxlike structure or small restrictive enclosure, <u>receded from on</u> other grounds, M.N. v. State, 16 So. 3d 280 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009).

In Florida, the merger doctrine limits aggravating circumstances used to justify a death sentence. Although section 921.141(5), Florida Statutes, enumerates fifteen individual aggravating circumstances, this Court has repeatedly merged aggravators which rest on the same evidence. <u>See, e.g.</u>, <u>Eaglin v.</u> <u>State</u>, 19 So. 3d 935, 941 (Fla. 2009) (reflecting trial court's merger of aggravators for law enforcement victim performing legal duties and murder during escape from custody); <u>Hutchinson v. State</u>, 882 So. 2d 943, 953 (Fla. 2004) (trial court properly merged aggravated child abuse aggravators relied upon the victim's status as a child), abrogated on other grounds by Deparvine v. State, 995

So. 2d 351 (Fla. 2008); <u>Gonzalez v. State</u>, 786 So. 2d 559 (Fla. 2001)(ruling that trial court properly merged aggravating factors that felony was committed both in course of a robbery and for pecuniary gain, as well as aggravators for murder committed to avoid arrest and to disrupt enforcement of laws, and law enforcement victim); <u>Burns v. State</u>, 699 So. 2d 646, 648 n.3 (Fla. 1997) (noting trial judge merged three aggravators which were all based on victim's status as law enforcement officer).

#### B. Brooks v. State

In respondent's view, <u>Brooks</u> is the product of an implicit recognition by at least some members of this Court that merger applies equally to aggravating factors and assaultive felony murder. In <u>Brooks</u>, the Court ruled that the aggravating factor for murder in the course of a felony could not rest on aggravated child abuse via a single, lethal blow:

> [H]ad Brooks been charged with aggravated child abuse, he could not have been convicted of that crime. That is because aggravated child abuse is an aggravated battery, the only difference being that the victim is a child. <u>See</u> 827.03(2), Fla. Stat. (2002) ("'Aggravated child abuse' occurs when a person: (a) commits aggravated battery on a child...."). In light of the fact that Brooks delivered a single stabbing blow that resulted in Alexis Stuart's death, the act constituting the aggravated child abuse merged into the infant's homicide.

> . . . It makes no difference that Brooks was not charged or convicted of aggravated child abuse because that crime, under these

facts, merges with the homicide itself. In the instant matter, the action underlying the aggravated child abuse factor constituted the fatal stab wound that killed Alexis Stuart. Because there is no separate offense of aggravated child abuse, that crime cannot logically serve as the underlying felony in a felony murder charge.

<u>Id.</u> at 198-99. This Court invalidated the aggravator for murder in the course of a felony but found the error harmless and affirmed Brooks' two death sentences. Id. at 199.

Brooks asserted on rehearing that merger also invalidated his first-degree murder convictions based on general verdicts that could have rested either on felony murder rendered invalid via merger or on premeditated killings. The Court denied rehearing, but three Justices concluded that the original majority's merger analysis required reversal of the first-degree murder convictions. <u>Id.</u> at 220-21 (Pariente, C.J., dissenting from denial of rehearing, with Anstead, J., concurring); <u>id.</u> at 221-24 (Lewis, J., dissenting).

# C. First District Split

Because this Court affirmed the first-degree murder convictions, two First District panels have split on whether <u>Brooks</u>' merger analysis requires reversal of a first-degree felony murder conviction based on a single act constituting aggravated child abuse. The panel in <u>Lewis</u> deemed the merger discussion in <u>Brooks</u> "ultimately immaterial to the outcome of the case," making it dicta. 34 So. 3d at 185. In this case, <u>Sturdivant</u>, a different panel concluded that a majority in <u>Brooks</u> must have concluded that "allowing the charges to go to the jury on alternative theories of either premeditated first-degree murder or felony murder was harmless." 35 Fla. L. Weekly at D1994. Noting that the <u>Lewis</u> panel also found that more than a single act led to the child's death in that case, the panel in <u>Sturdivant</u> concluded that <u>Lewis</u>' discussion of <u>Brooks</u> was dicta. <u>Id.</u> Nine of the First District's fifteen judges voted to deny an en banc hearing. <u>Sturdivant v.</u> State, 35 Fla. L. Weekly D1997 (Fla. 1st DCA Sept. 7, 2010).

# D. Reconciling Brooks to the Common Law

<u>Brooks</u> remains viable and precludes the felony murder conviction in this case. First, as the First District concluded in <u>Sturdivant</u>, <u>Brooks</u>' merger analysis encompasses both the aggravating factor of murder in the course of a felony and a felony murder conviction resting on a single act of violence. Although a finding that the error was harmless as to the convictions is not explicit in <u>Brooks</u>, the First District's conclusion in this case that merger error affected only a single aggravator and not the validity of the underlying convictions is a more reasonable exegesis from Brooks than a determination that merger applied only

to the aggravator. Second, stare decisis favors adherence to <u>Brooks</u> because it remains a workable application of a solid tenet of criminal jurisprudence.

# 1. Discerning Brooks' Holding

The Brooks majority spoke unambiguously in stating that "in light of the fact that Brooks delivered a single stabbing blow that resulted in Alexis Stuart's death, the act constituting the aggravated child abuse merged into the infant's homicide." 918 So. 2d at 198. How then could the Court have affirmed the first-degree murder convictions resting on a general verdict after the jury was instructed on the legally valid theory of premeditation as well as felony murder via the merged offense of aggravated child abuse? As Justice Lewis explained in his dissent in Brooks, the uncertainty caused by a general guilty verdict from a jury instructed on both premeditated murder and felony murder resting on an invalid underlying felony compels reversal of the conviction and remand for Id. at 222 (Lewis, J., dissenting); see also a new trial. Sturdivant, 34 Fla. L. Weekly at D1996 (Rowe, J., dissenting). In contrast, when a jury is instructed on two legally valid theories, one of which rests on insufficient evidence, the jury can be trusted to discern the difference, and the resulting general guilty verdict is upheld. 918 So. 2d at 223 (Lewis, J., dissenting). The First District panel in Lewis found the disparity between analysis

and result in <u>Brooks</u> "inexplicabl[e]," 34 So. 3d at 186, but the <u>Sturdivant</u> panel deemed the conclusion that this Court found the error harmless as to the convictions "inescapable." 35 Fla. L. Weekly at D1995.

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